THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY SC Court of Appeals  
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No.: 2015-000613

---

Jeffrey Kennedy ..... Respondent,

v.

Richland County School District Two, Eric Barnes, and Chuck Earles ..... Appellants.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

CHILDS & HALLIGAN, P.A.

Kathryn Long Mahoney, S.C. Bar No. 65332  
kmahoney@childs-halligan.net

Thomas K. Barlow, S.C. Bar No. 8995  
tbarlow@childs-halligan.net

1301 Gervais Street, Suite 900  
P.O. Box 11367  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 254-4035

Attorneys for Appellants

Other Counsel of Record:

## **I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- (1) Did the Trial Court Err In Denying Appellants' Motion For Directed Verdict/JNOV On Respondent's Defamation Claim?
- (2) Did The Trial Court Err In Denying Appellants' Motion For JNOV On The Issue Of Individual Liability Under The South Carolina Tort Claims Act?
- (3) Did The Trial Court Err In Denying Appellants' Motion For JNOV On The Issue Of Punitive Damages Under The South Carolina Tort Claims Act?
- (4) Did The Trial Court Err In Excluding Evidence Of Respondent's Alleged Theft And His Corresponding Loss Of Employment With A Subsequent Employer During The Pendency Of This Case?
- (5) Did The Trial Court Err In Failing To Instruct The Jury That No Defamatory Communication Was Made As A Result Of Respondent's Termination And That Respondent's Employment Termination Was Not Part Of His Defamation Claim?
- (6) Did The Trial Court Err In Denying Appellants' Motion For A New Trial Absolute On The Grounds That The Amount Of The Verdict, Given The Evidence Presented At Trial, Demonstrated That It Was Motivated By Caprice, Passion, Or Prejudice?
- (7) Did The Trial Court Err in Denying Appellants' Motion For New Trial Nisi Remittitur?
- (8) Did The Trial Court Err In Affirming the Constitutionality Of The Jury's Award Of Punitive Damages?

## **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Respondent, Jeffrey Kennedy, is a former employee of Appellant Richland School District Two ("Richland Two"). He filed this action on March 11, 2013, in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas alleging multiple causes of action against the following defendants: Richland School District Two ("Richland Two"), Dr. Katie Brochu,

Roosevelt Garrick, Traci Batchelder, Kim Jones, Eric Bonds [sic], and Chuck Earles. (R. pp. 13-18.) Prior to trial, the parties stipulated to the dismissal of Dr. Brochu, Mr. Garrick, and Ms. Batchelder. (R. p. 26.) The case was called for trial during the September 29, 2014 Common Pleas term of court. A jury was empaneled and Mr. Kennedy's case proceeded against Richland Two, Chuck Earles, Eric Barnes, and Kim Jones.

Upon the close of Mr. Kennedy's case, the Court granted a directed verdict for all defendants on Mr. Kennedy's intentional infliction of emotional distress claim and his defamation claim against Ms. Jones. (R. p. 598 l. 22 - p. 601 l. 15.) After Appellants rested their case, the Trial Court directed a verdict on Mr. Kennedy's claim of Negligent Supervision and Retention against Richland Two. (R. p. 937 l. 8 - p. 942 l. 2.) The Trial Court denied the directed verdict motion only as to Mr. Kennedy's defamation claim against Mr. Earles and Mr. Barnes with regard to alleged communications in June 2011, regarding Mr. Kennedy's reassignment to a desk-based position inside the School District's security office, following a theft investigation at Spring Valley High School ("SVHS"). The Trial Court granted the motion for directed verdict to the extent Mr. Kennedy contended that any communications surrounding or related to the termination of his employment with Richland Two in October 2012 were defamatory. (R. p. 908 l. 20 – p. 910 l. 2; p. 922 ll. 18-23.)

On October 3, 2014, the jury returned a verdict against Mr. Barnes for \$100,000 in actual damages and \$150,000 in punitive damages, and a verdict against Mr. Earles for \$100,000 in actual damages and \$200,000 in punitive damages. The Court allowed the parties ten days for post-trial motions and Appellants timely submitted their post-trial motions on October 13, 2014. (R. pp. 46-75.) The Court denied Appellants' post-trial

motions on February 24, 2015, and Appellants timely filed their Notice of Appeal on March 13, 2015. (R. pp. 100-108.)

### **III. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Mr. Kennedy began working third shift as a security guard in Richland Two's security department in May 2008. (R. pp. 140-142.) His starting rate of pay was \$11.77 per hour. (R. p. 141.) In his position, he was essentially the night watchman. (R. p. 144.) Spring Valley High School ("SVHS") was his base school. He was also responsible for security at seven other schools on nightly rounds. (R. p. 145.)

At relevant times, Mr. Earles was Richland Two's Emergency Services Manager. (R. p. 409 l. 22 – p. 410 l. 1.) Mr. Barnes was Richland Two's Assistant Security Manager. (R. p. 287 ll. 13-20; p. 410 ll. 2-5.)

In February 2011, Mr. Kennedy applied for a lieutenant position in the security department, which was essentially a patrol supervisor, shift leader job. (R. p. 152.) He was to move to the second shift and would have received an unspecified pay raise. (R. pp. 412-413, 1009.) Mr. Kennedy offered no evidence of the difference in pay he would have received as lieutenant. *Id.* Mr. Earles recommended Mr. Kennedy to Richland Two's Human Resources department for the position on or around February 28, 2011. (*Id.*) The position was scheduled to start March 7, 2011. (R. pp. 416, 1009.)

On the morning of March 4, 2011, SVHS Athletic Director Tim Hunter reported that \$1000 in cash was missing from his office in the athletic department at SVHS. (R. pp. 607, 1025.) Mr. Hunter left the money under his desk in a cash box after collecting it from a sporting event the previous night. (R. pp. 611, 1025.)

Mr. Kennedy became the focus of the investigation of the missing funds. Specifically, the money went missing during his shift and on his watch, there were some other thefts at SVHS on his watch in other parts of campus that were under investigation

at that time, he had a key that would open any door on campus, and videotape surveillance showed him engaging in what school district administrators, including Mr. Barnes and Mr. Earles, considered unusual behavior in lingering off camera for five minutes in the SVHS athletic department. (R. p. 510 l. 14 – p. 516 l. 20.) According to defense witnesses, this would have provided Mr. Kennedy an opportunity to rifle through Mr. Hunter’s office, which was not covered by a security camera. (R. pp. 491, 510-515, 619-621.)

Mr. Kennedy was placed on paid administrative leave during the investigation and the matter was referred to the Richland County Sheriff’s Office. (R. p. 210 ll. 11-14.) Mr. Kennedy was not criminally charged for the theft. (R. p. 167 ll. 9-11; p. 210.) He was returned to full duty security work with Richland Two on or around June 16, 2011. (R. p. 766 l. 16 – p. 767 l. 9; pp. 1010-1012.) Roosevelt Garrick, who was then Richland Two’s Chief Human Resource Officer, informed Mr. Kennedy that he would be permitted to return to work, but due to concerns with Mr. Kennedy’s lack of candor during the investigation and suspicious behavior, he would not be promoted to lieutenant at that time. (R. pp. 826-842, 1011-1012.)

Prior to Mr. Kennedy’s return to work in June 2011, Mr. Earles sent an email with the reference line “**CONFIDENTIAL**” in bold, capital letters to security department supervisors that read as follows:

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS  
EMAIL IS CONFIDENTIAL AND WILL ONLY  
BE SHARED WITH OTHER DISTRICT  
SECURITY SUPERVISORS, AS NEEDED,  
WHEN THEY WILL BE SUPERVISING  
MR. KENNEDY.

Mr. Kennedy will be reporting to work tomorrow night (Thursday, June 16) to work on third shift, weekdays. This will be his permanent assignment.

I have told him that he will be assigned to work in the watch room answering phones and performing whatever other duties are necessary in the watch room.

He is NOT to be given any assignment that involves having keys to any District facility.

Thank you.

(R. pp. 424-428; p. 518 l. 15 – p. 520 l. 25; p. 1010.) Two of Mr. Kennedy's former coworkers testified that they saw Mr. Earles' confidential email printed out at the security office. (R p. 229 l. 21 – p. 231 l. 1; p. 274 l. 16 – p. 275, l. 17.) However, both of those co-workers testified that they first heard Mr. Kennedy was under investigation for the SVHS theft from Mr. Kennedy himself. (R. p. 235 ll. 6-23; p. 276 l. 23 – p. 277 l. 1.) Mr. Kennedy testified that he also saw the email "lying out" in security vehicles and in offices. (R. p. 168.) No evidence was presented at trial that Mr. Earles or Mr. Barnes had printed out the email or were aware that it had been printed out prior to the litigation. Both Mr. Earles and Mr. Barnes testified that they were not aware of any rumors or allegations that the email had been printed out until Mr. Kennedy alleged it by way of this action. (R. p. 308 l. 11 – p. 312 l. 4; p. 429 ll. 2-7; p. 519.)

After returning to work in June 2011, Mr. Kennedy did not look for another job for the next fourteen months. (R. p. 213.) He testified that he continued to enjoy his job. (R. pp. 213-214.) Mr. Kennedy did not receive any reprimands or warnings after reinstatement to his position in June 2011. (R. p. 214.) His at-will employment with Richland Two was ultimately terminated in October 2012. (R. p. 213.)

Mr. Kennedy contended that he was further defamed by way of his termination and by Kim Jones, a bus driver for Richland Two who had reported Mr. Kennedy for intimidating behavior toward her during an investigation of whether Ms. Jones may have improperly reviewed a school video with Mr. Kennedy's assistance. (Compl. ¶¶ 13-17;

R. p. 15.) However, the Trial Court's rulings granting Ms. Jones a directed verdict on that claim and holding that Mr. Kennedy did not prove any defamatory communication in connection with his termination have rendered the circumstances of his 2012 employment termination largely irrelevant to this appeal.

Mr. Kennedy offered evidence that after his termination in October 2012, he was evicted from his house, his car was repossessed, and ultimately he was divorced from his wife. (R. pp. 180-183, 1013-1014.) At the time of trial, he was working for GEO Care as a security officer, where he was eligible for stock and participation in its 401(k) program. (R. p. 183.) Between his employment at Richland Two and GEO Care, he worked for Allied Barton as a security guard at an hourly rate of \$13.26. (R. p. 205 ll. 10-11.) His final hourly rate at Richland Two was \$12.77 per hour. (R. p. 219.) Mr. Kennedy testified that he resigned from Allied Barton in February 2014. (R. pp. 204-205) The Trial Judge limited defense counsel's ability to cross examine Mr. Kennedy under Rule 405 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence regarding the circumstances of his resignation from Allied Barton. (R. p. 193 l. 11 – p. 201 l. 25.) At the time of trial, Mr. Kennedy had pending charges of petty larceny for thefts at the SCANA campus where he was assigned to work through Allied Barton. Appellants challenge this ruling below. (R. pp. 27-32, 116-122.) Mr. Kennedy testified that he had no evidence that anyone at Richland Two had provided a negative reference or had attempted to keep him from securing subsequent employment. (R. p. 221.)

#### **IV. ARGUMENTS**

##### **A. The Trial Court Erred In Denying Appellants' Motion For A Directed Verdict/JNOV On Mr. Kennedy's Defamation Claim.**

##### **1. JNOV Was Warranted Because Mr. Kennedy Did Not Carry His Burden Of Proving Each Element of His Defamation Claim.**

A Motion for JNOV is a renewal of the directed verdict motion. *See Roland v.*

*Palmetto Hills*, 308 S.C. 283, 417 S.E.2d 626 (Ct. App. 1992); *Brady Dev. Co. v. Town of Hilton Head Island*, 312 S.C. 73, 439 S.E.2d 266 (1993). Directed verdict is a test of the sufficiency of the evidence. *Carolina Home Builders, Inc. v. Armstrong Furnace Co.*, 259 S.C. 346, 191 S.E.2d 774 (1972) (when evidence presented at trial raises no issue for the jury as defendant's liability, a motion for a directed verdict based on the sufficiency of the evidence-should be granted); *see also, e.g., Tucker v. Pure Oil Co. of Carolinas*, 191 S.C. 60, 3 S.E.2d 547 (1939) (remarking that review of a trial court's failure to grant directed verdict is a test of the sufficiency of the evidence). A court should grant a JNOV when the evidence presented at trial is insufficient to support the jury's verdict. *See Rogers v. Norfolk S. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 52, 59, 538 S.E.2d 664, 668 (Ct. App. 2001), *aff'd as modified*, 356 S.C. 65, 71, 588 S.E.2d 87 (2003).

To prove a defamation claim, a plaintiff carries the burden of proving: "(1) a false and defamatory statement was made; (2) the unprivileged publication of the statement to a third party; (3) the publisher was at fault; and (4) either the statement was actionable irrespective of harm or the publication of the statement caused special harm." *Williams v. Lancaster Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 369 S.C. 293, 302-03, 631 S.E.2d 286, 292 (Ct. App. 2006). "The publication of a statement is defamatory if it tends to harm the reputation of another as to lower him in the estimation of the community or to deter third persons from associating or dealing with him." *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 494, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002).

Mr. Kennedy did not meet his burden of proving an unprivileged publication by either Mr. Earles or Mr. Barnes. First, the only possible defamatory communication Mr. Kennedy identified at trial was Plaintiff's Exhibit 4 - the June 15, 2011 email from Defendant Earles addressed to the following individuals: Angelia Permenter, Eric Barnes, Gerome Young, Lelith Zerzycki, and Rick Groves, with a copy to Traci

Batchelder. The Trial Judge identified this as the only potentially defamatory comment in her charge to the jury. (R. p. 981.) It was undisputed that each of the recipients of the email was a supervisory-level employee in the security department, with the exception of Ms. Batchelder, who was a Director of Human Resources.

Mr. Kennedy and witnesses testified that they saw printed copies of the email in a security department truck as well as in an office in the Security Services building. (R. p. 168, p. 229 l. 21 – p. 231 l. 2; pp. 274-275.) No witness testified: (1) that Mr. Earles or Mr. Barnes<sup>1</sup> was responsible for distributing the email or placing it in the locations it was found; (2) that the witness had discussed the confidential email with either Mr. Earles or Mr. Barnes<sup>2</sup>; (3) that Mr. Earles or Mr. Barnes discussed the subject matter of the investigation with any third party not addressed in the email itself; or (4) that they had reason to believe Mr. Earles or Mr. Barnes knew the email had been seen by others prior to the litigation.

As the Trial Court recognized during directed verdict arguments at the conclusion of the evidence, the mere fact that non-supervisor witnesses may have seen the confidential email is not sufficient evidence for the jury to conclude *ipso facto* that Mr. Barnes or Mr. Earles was responsible for its printing or circulation beyond the email's listed recipients. (R. pp. 926-927.) Proof of a defamatory publication requires publication by the defendant, not speculation that an addressee of the email may have ignored the directive of Mr. Earles' email to maintain confidentiality. Further, it was not a permissible inference for the jury to speculate that either Mr. Barnes or Mr. Earles was responsible for issuing the communication to a third party (*i.e.*, outside the group of

---

<sup>1</sup> Mr. Kennedy introduced no evidence at trial that Mr. Barnes contributed to preparation of the email, sent the email, printed the email, or copied the email.

<sup>2</sup> In fact, Mr. Kennedy's witnesses specifically denied discussing the memorandum with Mr. Earles or Mr. Barnes. (R. pp. 235, 258, 277-279.)

supervisory addressees) just because it had been printed out and seen by Mr. Kennedy and two of his witnesses.

The proof of publication offered by Mr. Kennedy in this case was similar to the proof the Court of Appeals flatly rejected in *Williams*, 369 S.C. at 304, 631 S.E.2d at 286. In that case, the plaintiff argued that because a rumor existed that the plaintiff coach was having an affair with a school secretary, the school principal, who confronted the plaintiff coach about being in a bathroom alone with the secretary, must have been responsible for publishing the rumor. However, the Court of Appeals found:

Based on the evidence of record, there were numerous individuals who were aware of the . . . incident besides [the Principal]. Any one of those people could have been responsible for the rumor of an illicit relationship between Philip and Cheryl. The record simply does not support the Williamses' assertion that the only individuals who had knowledge of the incident were [the principal and the assistant principal]. Thus, the rumors cannot be said to have only been possibly attributable to [the principal] and the Williamses' argument concerning indirect evidence fails.

*Williams*, 369 S.C. at 304, 631 S.E.2d at 292.

Because Mr. Kennedy offered no direct or circumstantial evidence that either Mr. Barnes or Mr. Earles was responsible for printing out the email or any further distribution of the email beyond the addressees, he failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence any defamatory publication by Mr. Earles or Mr. Barnes, and JNOV was warranted for that reason.

Likewise, the evidence introduced at trial did not establish the "fault" element on the part of either Mr. Barnes or Mr. Earles without proof that they published the email beyond the list of addressees. As a matter of law, the language of the email itself demonstrates that Mr. Earles took reasonable precautions to assure its confidentiality.

The Trial Court so held in granting Richland Two JNOV on Mr. Kennedy's negligent supervision claim:

And the testimony was, "When I send out something confidential, I would expect that those in a supervisory role would understand that importance and to show and demonstrate and respect the fact it's confidential and should not be shared with others." I think that's a reasonable expectation. I also believe that based upon the evidence and the case law that there is not a --- that there has been no reason to believe that those individuals would therefore go out and do something contrary to what the expectation was in light of the fact that the memo clearly says its confidential.

(R. pp. 939-940.) The suggestion that Mr. Earles could have gone to each supervisor individually, or not sent the email at all, does not negate the reasonableness of the precautions demonstrated by Mr. Earles' testimony and the text of the email itself.

(R. pp. 425-428, 518-519.) Mr. Kennedy offered no evidence to suggest that any of the addressees were likely to violate confidentiality or had a tendency to ignore directives to keep employee information confidential. An employer is not obligated to maintain a "rumor free" workplace, particularly in the absence of any evidence that any of the email recipients could not be trusted with, or were likely to disclose confidential information. Accordingly, there was insufficient evidence of a false and defamatory publication by Mr. Earles or Mr. Barnes, or fault on behalf of Mr. Earles or Mr. Barnes in any disclosure made by another employee, to warrant submitting the defamation claim to the jury. Appellants were entitled to JNOV on that basis as well.

**2. Any Allegedly False And Defamatory Statement Published By Any Defendant Regarding Mr. Kennedy Was Subject To A Qualified Privilege And Mr. Kennedy Produced No Evidence To Support A Jury Verdict That Any Publication Was Made With Actual Malice.**

---

The Court properly determined that a qualified privilege applied to Mr. Earles' email to the security supervisors as a matter of law. (R. p. 981.) A statement made in connection with an employer's *bona fide* inquiry into possible employee misconduct is qualifiedly privileged. *Wright v. Sparrow*, 298 S.C. 469, 474, 381 S.E.2d 503, 507 (Ct. App. 1989). "Communications between officers and employees of a corporation are qualifiedly privileged if made in good faith and in the usual course of business." *Murray v. Holnam, Inc.*, 344 S.C. 129, 141 542 S.E.2d 743, 749 (Ct. App. 2001).

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