**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas**

RECEIVED

Honorable Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge DEC 02 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2015-000613

Jeffrey Kennedy.....Respondent,

v.

Richland County School District Two, Eric Barnes and Chuck Earles.....Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

T. Jeff Goodwyn, Jr.
Rachel G. Peavy
Goodwyn Law Firm, LLC
2519 Devine Street
Suite A
Columbia, SC 29205
(803) 251-4517
Attorneys for Respondent

Thomas K. Barlow
Kathryn Long Mahoney
Childs & Halligan, PA
1301 Gervais Street, Ste. 900
P.O. Box 11367
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 254-4035
Attorneys for Appellants

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

The credibility of the witnesses was for the jurors to consider: the jurors sat and listened as Mr. Barnes became quite distraught over what he believed to be Richland Two's deficiencies in failing to immediately fire Mr. Kennedy. The jurors sat and listened as Chuck Earles stated that he never interviewed anyone else about the AD department theft, despite there being other people with "access and opportunity" (to quote the Richland Two HR director, Roosevelt Garrick). Perhaps the jurors thought Mr. Earles and Mr. Barnes were smug. Perhaps the jurors thought that their "investigation" was a sham and conducted maliciously. Perhaps the jury thought the Appellants printed out the email and posted it themselves for all to see because they were angry that Mr. Garrick chose not to fire Mr. Kennedy. Whatever the reason, the jury chose to award an amount which spoke to the seriousness of the claim and their perception of the wrongdoing perpetrated by Appellants. Case law abounds of \$500,000 + verdicts in defamation lawsuits which were upheld on appeal. See, e.g., Miller v. City of West Columbia, 322 S.C. 224, 471 S.E.2d 683 (1996) (upholding award of \$250,000 actual damages and \$500,000 in punitive damages); Constant v. Spartanburg Steel Prods., 316 S.C. 86, 447 S.E.2d 194 (upholding jury verdict of \$400,000 in actual damages and \$100,000 in punitive damages); Wilhoit v. WCSC, Inc., 293 S.C. 34, 358 S.E.2d 397 (Ct. App. 1987) (upholding an award of \$1 million in actual damages and \$45,000 in punitive damages).

Furthermore, the jury clearly wanted to send a message to the Appellants to deter similar conduct in the future and implement more effective methods for dealing with sensitive employee situations involving serious allegations. See Cody P. v. Bank of America, supra. For these reasons, the award of damages was proper under South Carolina

law and the Court should affirm the trial court's rulings for the reasons stated above, or for anything other reason found in the record pursuant to Rule 220(c), SCACR.

Denial of the Motion for New Trial Nisi Remittitur Was Proper

“There is no formula or standard that can be used as a measure for assessing punitive damages.” Austin v. Specialty Transportation Svs., Inc., 358 S.C. 298, 594 S.E.2d 867, 875 (Ct. App. 2004). Addressing the suggested factors for the Court to consider – as outlined in Gamble v. Stevenson and BMW v. Gore and relied upon by the Appellants - Kennedy again submits that there was clear evidence of the reprehensibility of the Appellants' conduct and of the Mr. Kennedy's damages for the jury to consider.⁶ Furthermore, the ratio of actual damages to punitive damages in this case is well within the “single digit multiplier” espoused by both State and Federal Courts. See Austin, supra at p. 877 – 878 (and cases cited therein) (noting that single-digit multipliers, while not binding, are more likely to comport with due process and finding that a punitive damages award of 2.5 times actual damages was not excessive).

While the Appellants asserted that their actions were neither serious nor harmful, the evidence before the jury was that Mr. Kennedy suffered greatly as a result of being labeled a “thief” in a workplace environment that was best described as a “rumor mill” according to the trial testimony and “Change of Culture” memo. Mr. Kennedy testified that his marriage broke down; he lost his position as a youth mentor at his church; he lost the trust and faith of his fellow parishioners; and he was subject to rumor and innuendo. In short, just because the Appellants apparently never took the case seriously does not mean that the

⁶ The South Carolina Supreme Court has characterized the *Gamble* factors as factors to “provide guidance” and are not to be considered “hard and fast” requirements. See Frazier v. Badger, 361 S.C. 94, 603 S.E.2d 587, 5963 (2004).

jury was not free to do so. See Wilhoit v. WCSC, Inc., 293 S.C. 397, 358 S.E.2d 397 (Ct. App. 1987) (holding that the trial judge properly refused to set aside the award of \$1 actual damages and \$45,000 punitive damages where there was no evidence that the jury was motivated by passion, caprice, or prejudice and, in fact, the evidence showed that the defendants falsely implied that plaintiff committed a crime).

The facts in the instant case were essentially undisputed at trial: the Appellants focused their investigation solely on Mr. Kennedy to the exclusion of all other suspects from day one, and, when law enforcement declined to press charges and HR refused to fire him, chose to go ahead and let everyone know that they considered Kennedy guilty regardless. They failed to safeguard confidential information and they failed to control the very “rumor mill” that they acknowledged existed at Richland Two. Furthermore, the argument that the Appellants’ conduct was not reprehensible because “Plaintiff continued in his job without complaint or incident for another fourteen months after reinstatement” is not supported by the evidence. See Init. Br. at p. 30. In fact, Mr. Kennedy tried to get his promotion reinstated and had his lawyer write a letter to Roosevelt Garrick to that effect.

Finally, the jury heard testimony that the night custodian, Ms. Jackson, was also subject to an investigation due to having opportunity and access, but her investigation was kept strictly confidential and her reputation survived intact. The jury could have compared and contrasted the actions of Jim Childers with the actions of Barnes and Earles.

Furthermore, there is substantial precedent for large verdicts in defamation lawsuits, including punitive damages, given that one’s reputation can be damaged irrevocably through a single action that reverberates for years. See, e.g., Lynch v. Toys R Us, 375 S.C. 654 S.E.2d 541 (Ct. App. 2007) (upholding jury award of \$50,000 in actual

damages and \$250,000 in punitive damages); Miller v. City of West Columbia, 322 S.C. 224, 471 S.E.2d 683 (1996) (upholding verdict in the amount of \$250,000 actual damages and \$500,000 punitive damages as appropriate where defamatory (and unsupported) statement that police officer had sexually harassed a co-worker effectively destroyed his reputation and ended his career); King v. Santee Resort Condominium Association, et al., 2013 WL 8691349 (S.C. Com. Pl. Clarendon County Dec. 5, 2013) (\$890,000 verdict on defamation claim arising out of defendants' erroneous, and repeated, identification of plaintiff as a registered sex offender)⁷.

In Lynch v. Toys R Us, the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's denial of Toys R Us's motion for JNOV or *nisi remittitur* based on the jury's award of \$50,000 in actual damages and \$250,000 in punitive damages. The Court of Appeals noted that the plaintiff was arrested without justification and in full view of customers, and the combination led to humiliation, sleeplessness, and emotional pain, which constituted actual damages. Further, the punitive damages award was upheld "as a warning and example to deter the wrongdoer and others from committing like offenses in the future." 654 S.E.2d at 552. In the instant case, the jury may have wanted the punitive damages award to send a message that the Appellants needed to be much more careful in the future when handling sensitive information related to their employees.

Similarly, in Miller v. City of West Columbia, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court properly denied the defendants' motion for a new trial and to strike the punitive damages award where the evidence showed that the city administrator carelessly investigated a dispatcher's claims of sexual harassment against the plaintiff, a longtime

⁷ The Santee Resort case was subsequently settled by the parties prior to appeal.

city police officer, and furthermore made a statement, not based on evidence and in the presence of others, that the plaintiff had, in fact, harassed the dispatcher. Based upon the evidence, the Court held that the jury award in the amount of \$250,000 actual damages and \$500,000 punitive damages was “appropriate and necessary” under Gamble.

Here, the jury awarded actual damages of \$200,000 and punitive damages of \$350,000. This is well within the bounds of constitutionality, is reasonable given the evidence, and is in line with other jury awards for defamation.

As to Appellants’ argument that no evidence was offered as to their ability to pay, the Appellants are successful professionals who were ably represented by counsel. Both men testified to stable employment histories and successful personal lives. There was no evidence presented that would indicate that the Appellants could not pay the award; furthermore, Barnes and Earles did not engage separate counsel from their employer. All were ably represented by the same law firm. Respondent requests that the Court affirm the holding of the lower court for the reasons stated herein or for any other reason found in the record pursuant to Rule 220(c), SCACR.

III. The Trial Court Correctly Responded to the Jury’s Request to Clarify the Terms “Actual” and “Punitive” and, furthermore, Defense Counsel Failed to Preserve This Argument of Review.

In response to Argument E contained in Appellants’ Final Brief, Kennedy responds as follows.

At the Charge Conference, R. pp. 1043-1065 (Appendix), the Appellants did not object to the trial judge’s charge and did not proffer a proposed charge on the issue of wrongful termination or whether the termination was grounds for damages. Accordingly, this argument is not properly preserved for review. See Rule 51, SCRCPP; See also Dixon

v. Ford, 362 S.C. 614, 608 S.E.2d 879 (Ct. App. 2005). Given that the sole claim before the jury was for defamation, it can be reasonably presumed that defense counsel did not wish to confuse the jury by charging the law of termination.

Defense counsel did object to Kennedy's proposed charge on the mortality tables on the grounds that "the termination is not to be part of the damages in the case" and that it would not be "fair to charge that he can recover future defamation damages." R. at p. 1053, l. 2-25 (Appendix). The trial judge agreed with defense counsel and declined to charge the mortality tables. R. at p. 1054, l. 1-14 (Appendix). The trial judge proceeded to charge the jury, and when asked if "there were any exceptions from the defense", defense counsel responded "no". R. pp. 973 -992. Accordingly, having failed to request a charge on termination, and having failed to note an objection to the judge's charge to the jury, the issue is not preserved for review. See Rule 51, SCRPC; See also Dixon v. Ford, 362 S.C. 614, 608 S.E.2d 879 (Ct. App. 2005). Appellants also did not raise this alleged "failure to charge" in their post-trial motions. In short, Appellants' argument is not preserved for review and was waived.

Appellants seek to "revive" this issue by pointing to a note that the jury sent out during its deliberations which stated as follows:

"We are a little confused. Question one, we are seeking clarity from you on terms actual, punitive, and malice. Question two, is there a percentage chart to use or do we break the amount into a rounded number to the best of our ability?"

R. p. 995, l. 18-25; R. p. 1016 (Court's Ex. 2).

After the trial judge indicated how she intended to respond, R. pp. 996, l. 1 – p. 997, l. 2; R. p. 997, l. 16 – p. 998, l. 4, the following exchange occurred:

Mr. Barlow: Would there be any way to clarify that that this is not a termination case?

Mr. Goodwyn: I would object to that since that was not charged.

The Court: I don't know that there is anything in here that relates to termination.

Mr. Barlow: Well, damages.

The Court: Well, there are damages for slander. So, you know, I mean, that's a cause of action for defamation.

Mr. Barlow: All right.

Mr. Goodwyn: You're just going to recharge them basically on the damages?

The Court: I'm not giving them any new instructions. I'm not doing anything different.

R. p. 997, l. 3 - 17.

The trial judge proceeded to call the jury back in and ask them to clarify their questions and the foreman replied that "I just want actual and punitive damages". R. p. 998, l. 11 – p. 999, l. 16. The Court proceeded to re-charge the jury on the elements of damages for a defamation claim. R. p. 999, l. 17- p. 1003, l. 16.

Appellants argue that the "ultimate termination of Plaintiff's employment for reasons not attributable to the theft investigation, or to Barnes or Earles at all, appears to have been a likely, but completely impermissible, basis for the jury's award of punitive damages." Final Br. at p. 18.

Again, the Appellants ignore the evidence which showed that Mr. Kennedy was defamed in 2011 and damaged by the malicious actions of Appellants when they took away his keys, let people know they considered him a thief, and denied him the promotion after

letting everyone know that he had been promoted. Accordingly, as recounted in great detail in Respondent's prior arguments, there was plenty of evidence for the jury to consider which supports the award. Simply because Kennedy, many months later, was eventually terminated does not mean the jury relied on the termination in awarding its damages. After all, Kennedy testified that despite a few rough months following his termination, he had been gainfully employed since. Respondent requests that the Court affirm the holding of the lower court for the reasons stated herein or for any other reason found in the record pursuant to Rule 220, SCACR.

IV. The Exclusion of Evidence of Another Accusation of Theft Against Kennedy Which Occurred Three Years After the Spring Valley Theft Was Not Prejudicial Error.

In response to Argument D contained in the Appellants' Brief, Kennedy responds as follows.

"The grant or denial of a new trial motion rests within the discretion of the trial judge and will not be disturbed on appeal unless the trial judge's findings are wholly unsupported by the evidence or the conclusions reached are controlled by error of law. In deciding whether to assess error to a court's denial of a motion for a new trial, we must consider the testimony and reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Creighton v. Coligny Plaza Ltd., 334 S.C. 96, 512 S.E.2d 510 (Ct. App. 1998) (upholding denial of motion for a new trial because the jury's verdict was not against the greater weight of the evidence presented at trial, and nothing in the record suggested the trial court's denial of the motion for a new trial was an abuse of discretion.) (citing Umhoefer v. Bollinger, 298 S.C. 221, 379 S.E.2d 296 (Ct. App.1989)).

The decision whether or not to admit testimony into evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion. Am. Fed. Bank v. Number One Main Joint Venture, 321 S.C. 169, 174, 467 S.E.2d 439, 442 (1996); See also Arthur v. Sexton Dental Clinic, 628 S.E.2d 894, 368 S.C. 326 (Ct. App. 2000) (no abuse of discretion by trial judge in excluding witnesses at trial). “No error in either the admission of the exclusion of evidence . . . is ground for granting a new trial . . . unless refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial justice. The court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties.” Rule 61, SCRPC.

On March 25, 2014 – over 3 years after the alleged theft at the AD’s office – Mr. Kennedy was arrested and charged with a misdemeanor petty larceny charge relating to his employment by Allied Barton as a security guard at the SCANA plant. At the time of the trial, the charges were pending.⁸

The incident occurred while Kennedy was employed by Allied Barton as a security officer, working under its contract with SCANA. The charges alleged that Mr. Kennedy stole a pair of safety glasses (valued at \$5.00) and \$10.00 in cash from a room at a SCANA location. On the eve of trial, defense counsel informed plaintiff’s counsel of the pending charges and identified Bill Simpson, the head of SCANA security as witness whom they

⁸ Appellant’s counsel has filed a motion to enlarge the record on appeal, pursuant to Rule 212, SCACR, to include the Richland County Summary Court record reflecting the jury’s verdict on the petty larceny charges as of April 8, 2015. Included in the motion is an argument as to harmless error under Rule 61, SCRPC, which Respondent specifically reserves the right to argue, among other grounds, in the event the motion to enlarge the record on appeal is granted.

intended to call to offer evidence of the alleged theft, pending charges, and Kennedy's dismissal from the SCANA jobsite.

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